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IN THE UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF DELAWARE 

 )  
In re: )  
 ) Chapter 11 
PES HOLDINGS, LLC, et al.,1 ) Case No. 19-11626 (LSS)  
 )  
    Debtors. ) (Jointly Administered) 
 )  
 )  

 
UNITED STATES’ JOINDER IN SUPPORT OF MOTION TO APPROVE PROPOSED 

CONSENT DECREE AND ENVIRONMENTAL SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT    
 

The United States of America, on behalf of the Environmental Protection Agency 

(“EPA”), hereby joins in Debtors’ motion [Docket No. 1225] for approval and entry of the 

proposed Consent Decree and Environmental Settlement Agreement (“Agreement”) that the 

United States lodged with the Court on May 1, 2020. [Docket No. 1222].  In support of its 

Joinder, the United States asserts as follows: 

INTRODUCTION 

1. The Agreement resolves the Debtors’ renewable identification number credits 

(RINs) retirement obligations and liabilities under a prior Clean Air Act (CAA) Consent Decree 

and the CAA’s Renewable Fuel Standard (RFS) program.  The RFS program requires refiners to 

blend renewable fuels into gasoline or diesel fuel or obtain and retire RINs to meet Renewable 

Volume Obligations (RVOs).  The Agreement provides that Debtors will retire RINs up to a 

certain capped amount as provided in the Agreement and discussed below.   

                                                       
1  The Debtors in these chapter 11 cases, along with the last four digits of each Debtor’s federal tax identification 

number, are: PES Holdings, LLC (8157); North Yard GP, LLC (5458); North Yard Logistics, L.P. (5952); PES 
Administrative Services, LLC (3022); PES Energy Inc. (0661); PES Intermediate, LLC (0074); PES Ultimate 
Holdings, LLC (6061); and Philadelphia Energy Solutions Refining and Marketing LLC (“PESRM”) (9574). The 
Debtors’ service address is: 1735 Market Street, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania 19103. 
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2. The United States contends that the RINs retirement obligations and RVOs are 

compliance obligations.  Because compliance cannot be obtained through monetary payments, 

these obligations are not subject to discharge. Debtors argue that these obligations are claims as 

defined in §101(5) of the Bankruptcy Code that are subject to discharge as general unsecured 

claims under the Fourth Amended Joint Chapter 11 Plan of PES Holdings, LLC and its Debtor 

Affiliates (Plan).      

3. The proposed Agreement resolves this dispute, promotes compliance with the 

RFS program, and allows the Debtors to move forward with consummation of their Plan. 

4. The United States published notice of the proposed Agreement in the Federal 

Register and solicited and considered public comments on the Agreement. For the reasons 

explained below, the Agreement is a fair and reasonable compromise of the disputed contentions 

of the parties under environmental law and bankruptcy law based on the unique facts and 

circumstances of this case.  

BACKGROUND 

5. Debtor, Philadelphia Energy Solutions Refining and Marketing LLC (PESRM), is 

a limited liability company formed in 2012.  PESRM owns and operates two refineries (together 

the Refining Complex) that are adjacent to residential neighborhoods and approximately 3.5 

miles south of downtown Philadelphia. The Refining Complex had been used for refining 

operations for approximately 150 years. The Refining Complex produces a full range of 

transportation fuels, such as gasoline and ultra-low sulfur diesel fuel, and other refined products.  

6. PESRM, as the owner and operator of the Refining Complex that produces 

transportation fuel, is subject to section 211(o) of the CAA, 42 U.S.C. § 7545(o), and the RFS 

Regulations prescribed thereunder at 40 C.F.R. Part 80, Subpart M (the “RFS Regulations”).  
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Under the RFS Regulations, gasoline and diesel fuel refiners and importers, such as PESRM, are 

required to blend renewable fuels into transportation fuels, or obtain RINs to meet RVOs, which 

are based on the volume of fuel the party produces or imports into the United States.  See 40 

C.F.R. §§ 80.1406(b) and 80.1407.  To comply with the RFS Regulations, refiners and importers 

must retire RINs on a periodic basis.  See 40 C.F.R. §§ 80.1427(b) and 80.1451(a)(1). 

7. In January 2018, PESRM filed a voluntary petition for relief under Title 11 of the 

United States Bankruptcy Code in this Court.  In re PES Holdings, LLC, et. al., Case No. 18-

10122 (KG).  At the time of filing this petition, PESRM, under the CAA’s RFS program, was 

obligated to retire a substantial number of RINs in order to meet its RVOs.  

8. In settlement of PESRM’s outstanding RINs compliance obligations, and based 

on PESRM’s limited ability to pay, on April 5, 2018, this Court approved the entry of a Consent 

Decree and Environmental Settlement Agreement (2018 Consent Decree).  Among other things, 

the 2018 Consent Decree set forth requirements for PESRM to commit to certain RINs 

retirement obligations, and stipulated penalties for the failure to comply with these obligations.   

[Docket No. 376]. 

9. In August 2018, PESRM emerged from its prior bankruptcy.  Through March 

2019, it complied with its RINs retirement obligations as set forth in the 2018 Consent Decree. 

10. On June 21, 2019, a large-scale catastrophic incident involving an explosion 

crippled the Refinery Complex.  One month later, on July 21, 2019, the above-captioned Debtors 

filed voluntary petitions for relief under Title 11 of the United States Bankruptcy Code.   

11. Through June 30, 2019, PESRM had produced gasoline and diesel fuel 

accumulating RINs retirement obligations of approximately 154 million RINs. After the 

explosion, including in part while the bankruptcy was pending, PESRM continued to produce 
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gasoline and diesel fuel from crude oil that remained at the Refinery Complex, triggering 

additional RINs retirement obligations.   

12. For RINs retirement obligations accrued prior to June 30, 2019, the 2018 Consent 

Decree established a retirement compliance deadline of September 30, 2019.  For RINs 

retirement obligations accrued after June 30, 2019, the compliance deadline under the 2018 

Consent Decree was March 31, 2020.   

13. Subject to deficit carryover provisions, the CAA and the RFS Regulations set a 

compliance deadline of March 31, 2020 for the RINs retirement obligations that accrued both 

prior to and after June 30, 2019. See 40 C.F.R. §§ 80.1427(b) and 80.1451(a)(1). 

14. On September 30, 2019, PESRM failed to meet its RINs retirement obligation of 

approximately 154 million RINs under the 2018 Consent Decree to satisfy its RVOs for the 

period of January 1, 2019 through June 30, 2019.  Likewise, on March 31, 2020, PESRM failed 

to retire any RINs, in violation of both the 2018 Consent Decree and the CAA.  

15. On February 13, 2020, the Bankruptcy Court entered an order [Docket No. 1004] 

confirming (the “Confirmation Order”) the Fourth Amended Joint Chapter 11 Plan of PES 

Holdings, LLC and its Debtor Affiliates (the “Plan” is Exhibit A to the Confirmation Order). 

16. Article VII of the Plan calls for the establishment of a Liquidating Trust and, in 

accordance with the Liquidating Trust Agreement, grants the Liquidating Trust the authority to 

implement the Plan and to administer and distribute the Distribution Reserve Accounts and wind 

down the business and affairs of the Debtors’ Estates and the Liquidating Trust.  

17. The Liquidating Trust will be funded by (among other things) the assets and 

Interest of the Debtors that are not transferred under the Purchase Agreement, any Proceeds from 

the Sale Transaction that are not actually distributed on the Effective Date of the Plan (the “Plan 
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Effective Date”); and the Excluded Assets, including, but not limited, to (i) any Proceeds arising 

from, or otherwise related to the Retained Matters, including the Business Interruption and 

Property Damage Insurance Policies and (ii) all Claims and Causes of Action that constitute 

Excluded Assets, including those Claims and Causes of Action identified on the Retained Causes 

of Action List subject to certain limitations as set forth in a Litigation Control Agreement to be 

executed between the Debtors and the Buyer. 

18. Article VI.K of the Plan concerns the “Treatment of Debtors’ RINs Retirement 

Obligations Under the Consent Decree and the Clean Air Act.” Under Article VI.K, the Court 

shall determine, after the submission of briefs, whether the Debtors’ RINs retirement obligations 

constitute injunctive compliance obligations or are dischargeable “debt” and/or a “claim” under 

the Bankruptcy Code. If the RINs retirement obligations are determined to be compliance 

obligations, then PESRM or the Liquidating Trust must comply with the RINs retirement 

obligations, as set forth in greater detail therein; if the RINs retirement obligations are found to 

be a dischargeable debt and/or claim, then the RINs retirement obligations constitute Class 5 

General Unsecured Claims (but shall be subject to any right of setoff or recoupment by the 

United States in accordance with the Plan and Confirmation Order). The Plan also provides that 

the Court may determine that some other treatment is warranted. 

19. Under Article VIII.D of the Plan, unless prior to the Plan Effective Date the Court 

makes a determination that the RINs retirement obligations constitute a dischargeable “debt” 

and/or “claim” or orders that an alternative treatment is warranted, or unless the Acquired 

Reorganized Debtors and/or Debtors have complied with the RINs retirement obligations or have 

committed to do so, then the Liquidating Trust shall establish the RINs Retirement Obligations 
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Reserve by depositing Cash in the amount of $35 million into the RINs Retirement Obligations 

Reserve on the Plan Effective Date. 

20. The Plan calls for a sale that results in PESRM’s equity being indirectly 

purchased by HRP Philadelphia Holdings, LLC (“HRP”). The Plan Effective Date and the 

closing on the sale restructuring will occur following the satisfaction of certain conditions set 

forth in the Plan and Purchase and Sale Agreement dated January 17, 2020. [Docket No. 780-6]. 

21. Paragraphs 113-115 of the Confirmation Order implement the provisions of the 

Plan relating to the RINs retirement obligations and, if necessary, the establishment of the RINs 

Retirement Obligations Reserve.   

22. Paragraphs 111, 112, 116-117, and 119 of the Order, reserve various rights of 

EPA for matters unrelated to the RFS program, RINs retirement obligations, and the 2018 

Consent Decree.2 

THE RENEWABLE FUEL STANDARD PROGRAM 

23. In 2005 and 2007, Congress amended the CAA to establish the RFS program, 

now codified at 42 U.S.C. § 7545(o). See Energy Policy Act of 2005, Pub. L. No. 109-58, 119 

                                                       
2  On January 17, 2020, the United States filed two Proofs of Claim on behalf of the Environmental Protection 

Agency.  The first Proof of Claim asserts claims against PESRM for civil penalties under Section 113(b) of the 
CAA, 42 U.S.C. § 7413(b) for violations of Section 112(r) of the CAA, 42 U.S.C. § 7412(r); for the recovery of 
response costs incurred and to be incurred by the United States under the Comprehensive Environmental Response, 
Compensation, and Liability Act (“CERCLA”), 42 U.S.C. §§ 9601-9675; for stipulated penalties under the CAA 
relating to a 2006 judicial consent decree entered in United States v. Sunoco, Inc., No. 05-02866 (E.D.Pa. 2006); 
and for stipulated penalties pursuant to the 2018 Consent Decree.  The Proof of Claim also asserts protective claims 
for compliance obligations and is without prejudice to any right under 11 U.S.C. § 553 or otherwise to attempt to 
setoff or recoup against any debts owed (if any) to PESRM, including but not limited to in Philadelphia Energy 
Solutions Refining and Marketing, LLC, No. 19-510T (Fed. Cl.).  The Agreement is limited to obligations under the 
2018 Consent Decree and CAA RFS Regulations, and any other obligations related to RINs or the RFS program, and 
does not address the remainder of the EPA Proof of Claim that is unrelated to RINs or the RFS program. 

 The second Proof of Claim filed against debtor, North Yard Logistics, L.P., concerns civil penalties under Section 
113(b) of the CAA, 42 U.S.C. § 7413(b), and is completely unrelated to obligations under the RFS program and 
unrelated to RINs.  Nothing in the Agreement is meant to modify, resolve, or otherwise impact the Proof of Claim 
against North Yard Logistics, L.P. 
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Stat. 594; Energy and Independence and Security Act of 2007, Pub. L. No. 110-140, 121 Stat. 

1492.  Congress enacted the RFS program with the intent to “move the United States toward 

greater energy independence and security” and to “increase the production of clean renewable 

fuels,” among other purposes. 121 Stat. 1492.  

24. To accomplish these intended purposes, Congress specified increasing annual 

“applicable volumes” of four categories of renewable fuel for the transportation sector – (a) 

cellulosic biofuel; (b) biomass-based diesel; (c) advanced biofuel, and (d) renewable fuel. 42 

U.S.C. § 7545(o)(2)(B)(i)(I)-(IV).    

25. Congress directed EPA to establish a compliance program and annual percentage 

standards to ensure that the applicable volumes are sold each year. 42 U.S.C. § 7545(o)(2)(A)(i), 

(iii), (3)(B)(i).  To calculate these percentage standards, EPA divides the applicable volume for 

each type of renewable fuel established in the CAA or determined by EPA pursuant to the CAA, 

42 U.S.C. § 7545(o)(2)(B), (7)(A), (7)(D)-(F), by the Energy Information Administration’s 

estimate of the national volume of transportation fuel that will be introduced into commerce in 

that year. 42 U.S.C. § 7545(o)(3)(A); 40 C.F.R. § 80.1405(c).  

26. Congress authorized EPA to place the obligation to satisfy the applicable 

percentage standards on “refineries, blenders, and importers, as appropriate.” 42 U.S.C. 

§ 7545(o)(3)(B)(ii)(I). By regulation, EPA determined that refiners and importers of gasoline and 

diesel fuel must fulfill the requirements of the RFS program. 40 C.F.R. § 80.1406. These 

obligated parties apply the percentage standards to their own annual production or importation of 

gasoline and diesel to calculate their individual RVO for each category of renewable fuel. 

27. Producers and importers of renewable fuels generate RINs for each gallon of 

renewable fuel they produce or import for use in the United States. 40 C.F.R. § 80.1426(a). RINs 
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are “assigned” to batches of renewable fuel by the producers and importers of renewable fuel, 

and may only be “separated” from those batches by an obligated party or by an entity that blends 

the renewable fuel into conventional fuel.  40 C.F.R. §§ 80.1426(e), 80.1429(b). Once separated, 

RINs may be kept for compliance or sold. See 40 C.F.R. §§ 80.1425–29.  

28. Each valid RIN serves to verify that a gallon of renewable fuel was blended into 

transportation fuel in accordance with the statute by some entity in the fuel supply and 

distribution system. Obligated parties meet their RVOs by accumulating RINs and “retiring” 

them in an annual compliance demonstration. 40 C.F.R.  § 80.1427(a)(1). 

29. The RIN system gives obligated parties flexibility in deciding how they will 

demonstrate compliance by allowing them to purchase RINs in several different ways, including 

by purchasing and blending renewable fuels with assigned RINs themselves or by purchasing 

RINs reflecting renewable fuel volumes blended by other entities. 72 Fed. Reg. at 23,942. See 

also 75 Fed. Reg. 14,670, at 14,722 (Mar. 26, 2010). Obligated parties can buy separated RINs 

either through a RIN spot market or through contractual arrangements. 72 Fed. Reg. 23,900. 

30. To promote the sale and purchase of valid RINs, EPA established a voluntary 

quality assurance plan (“QAP”) program.  Under the QAP regulations, independent third-party 

auditors monitor renewable fuel facilities to ensure these facilities are producing qualifying 

renewable fuel and generating valid RINs. A third-party auditor is required to register with EPA 

and submit a QAP for EPA approval before conducting any audits under that plan. Once a third-

party auditor has conducted the on-site review, document review, and initiated on-going 

monitoring, the RINs may be identified as verified by the third-party auditor and sold to other 

parties as QAP verified RINs. See 40 C.F.R. Part 80, Subpart M. A Q RIN is a type of RIN that a 
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registered independent third-party auditor verified using an approved QAP, and in accordance 

with the audit process laid out in 40 C.F.R. § 80.1472. See 40 C.F.R. § 80.1401.   

THE PROPOSED SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT 
 

31. The proposed Agreement requires PESRM to retire Q RINs up to a certain capped 

amount to resolve the disputed issues.   

32. The United States alleges that PESRM is liable: 

a. Under the 2018 Consent Decree for approximately 154 million RINs 

accrued from January 1, 2019 through June 30, 2019, and for stipulated 

penalties from the failure to retire by September 30, 2019;  

b. Under the 2018 Consent Decree for additional RINs accrued from July 1 

through December 31, 2019, and for stipulated penalties from the failure to 

retire by March 31, 2020; and 

c. Under the Clean Air Act for all RINs generated in 2019, and any civil 

penalties from failure to retire by March 31, 2020. 

33. The Agreement is structured so that the Liquidating Trust, is required to purchase 

and retire all of the Q RINs necessary to satisfy PESRM’s 2019 RVOs as follows and subject to 

the caps described below: 

a. 3,392,992 valid Q RINs, or cellulosic biofuel waiver credits pursuant to 40 

C.F.R. § 80.1456, to comply with the Cellulosic Biofuel RVO; 

b. 25,521,200 valid Q RINs to comply with the Biomass-Based Diesel RVO; 

c. 39,978,296 valid Q RINs to comply with the Advanced Biofuel RVO; and 

d. 161,830,963 valid Q RINs to comply with the Renewable Fuel RVO. 
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34. The RFS program operates with “nested” rather than cumulative, categories, 

meaning that Q RINs used to fulfill the obligations, pursuant to § 80.1427(a)(2), in categories (a) 

and (b) also count for compliance with the Q RINs obligations in category (c), and the Q RINs 

used to the fulfill the obligations in categories (a), (b), and (c) count toward compliance with the 

Q RINs obligations in category (d).3  

35. The Agreement caps the total amount that the Liquidating Trust must spend to 

purchase Q RINs at $10 million, and up to an additional $12 million if Debtors are successful in 

recovering an excise tax refund from the United States in Philadelphia Energy Solutions Refining 

and Marketing, LLC, No. 19-510T (Fed. Cl.). 

36. By requiring the Liquidating Trust to purchase Q RINs, the Agreement aims to 

assure that the Liquidating Trust does not waste valuable resources purchasing invalid RINs.  

Additionally, by requiring the purchase of Q RINs in arms’ length transactions, using reasonable 

best efforts to pay the prevailing market price, the Agreement aims to maximize RINs 

compliance.  The Agreement also contains reporting requirements and stipulated penalties for 

failing to timely retire Q RINs.   

37. Compliance is initially guaranteed through the establishment of a $10 million 

RINs Retirement Obligation Reserve.  The amount of the $35 million reserve provided for in the 

Plan was reduced through negotiations with the Debtors and the Debtors’ secured lenders, who 

are ultimately funding the reserve. 

                                                       
3 The number of RINs in categories (c) and (d) are not affected by the use of cellulosic biofuel waiver credits as the 

use of cellulosic biofuel waiver credits can only apply to the requirement of subparagraph (a) and not 
subparagraphs (c) and (d) consistent with and pursuant to § 80.1456(c)(4). For further information on the fuel 
nesting scheme for the Renewable Fuel Standard, see https://www.epa.gov/renewable-fuel-standard-
program/renewable-fuel-annual-standards. 
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38. The Agreement also includes a covenant not to sue that is expressly limited to 

causes of action, fines, penalties, or any other remedies against the Debtors, the Reorganized 

Debtors, the Liquidating Trust, or any other covered entities, pursuant to Section 211(o) of the 

CAA, 42 U.S.C. § 7545(o), the RFS Regulations, or the 2018 Consent Decree.  

39. Under the covenant not to sue, the United States expressly reserves its rights as to 

(1) any action to enforce the terms of the Agreement; (2) liability for the Debtors’ or the 

Reorganized Debtors’ or the other covered entities’ post-Plan Effective Date acts, if any, creating 

liability under the CAA or RFS Regulations, or under other federal laws, regulations, or permit 

conditions; (3) civil penalties under Section 113(b) of the CAA, 42 U.S.C. § 7413(b) for 

violations of Section 112(r) of the CAA, 42 U.S.C. § 7412(r); (4) recovery of response costs 

incurred and to be incurred by the United States under CERCLA, 42 U.S.C. §§ 9601-9675; (5) 

civil penalties under Section 113(b) of the CAA, 42 U.S.C. § 7413(b) relating to a 2006 judicial 

consent decree entered in United States v. Sunoco, Inc., No. 05-02866 (E.D.PA 2006); and (vi) 

criminal liability. 

STANDARD OF REVIEW 

40. The Third Circuit has “explicitly recognized with approval” the “strong 

presumption in favor of voluntary settlement agreements.” Ehrheart v. Verizon Wireless, 609 

F.3d 590, 594 (3d Cir. 2010) (citing Pennwalt Corp. v. Plough, Inc., 676 F.2d 77, 79-80 (3d Cir. 

1982)). “Settlement agreements are to be encouraged because they promote the amicable 

resolution of disputes and lighten the increasing load of litigation faced by the federal courts.” Id. 

at 595 (citing D.R. by M.R. v. E. Brunswick Bd. of Educ., 109 F.3d 896, 901 (3d Cir. 1997)). See 

also McDermott, Inc. v. AmClyde, 511 U.S. 202, 213–15 (1994) (“Public policy wisely 

encourages settlements.”). “In addition to the conservation of judicial resources, the parties may 
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also gain significantly from avoiding the costs and risks of a lengthy and complex trial.” 

Ehrheart at 595. 

41. A court “should approve a proposed consent decree if it is fair, reasonable, and 

consistent with [the statute]’s goals.” United States v. Se. Pa. Transp. Auth. (“SEPTA”), 235 

F.3d 817, 823 (3d Cir. 2000). See also In re: Tutu Water Wells CERCLA Litig., 326 F.3d 201 (3d 

Cir. 2003). This standard is applied in consideration of the “law’s policy of encouraging 

settlement,” and the deference that courts owe to the administrative agency’s expertise. SEPTA, 

235 F.3d at 822.  In reviewing a consent decree the court does not inquire “whether the 

settlement is one which the court itself might have fashioned, or considers as ideal . . . .” United 

States v. Cannons Eng’g Corp., 720 F. Supp. 1027, 1036 (D. Mass. 1989) (citations omitted), 

aff’d, 899 F.2d 79, 84 (1st Cir. 1990), or seek to determine whether the proposed settlement 

provides for “every benefit that might someday be obtained in contested litigation.” United 

States v. Allegheny-Ludlum Indus., Inc., 517 F.2d 826, 850 (5th Cir. 1975).  Rather, the Court 

should approve the settlement if it determines that the settlement is fair and reasonable, and 

resolves the controversy in a manner consistent with the public interest. Citizens for a Better 

Env’t v. Gorsuch, 718 F.2d 1117, 1126 (D.C. Cir. 1983). 

42. The presumption in favor of settlement “is particularly strong where a consent 

decree has been negotiated by the Department of Justice on behalf of a federal administrative 

agency like EPA which enjoys substantial expertise in the environmental field.” United States v. 

Akzo Coatings of America, Inc., 949 F.2d 1409, 1436 (6th Cir. 1991). Where the United States is 

a party to a consent decree, the balance of competing interests affected by a proposed settlement 

“must be left, in the first instance, to the discretion of the Attorney General.” United States v. 

Bechtel Corp., 648 F.2d 660, 666 (9th Cir. 1981). See also United States v. Assoc. Milk 
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Producers, Inc., 534 F.2d 113, 117 (8th Cir. 1976) (The Attorney General retains “considerable 

discretion in controlling government litigation and in determining what is in the public 

interest.”).4 

The Proposed Agreement is a Fair and Reasonable Compromise of the Disputed 
Contentions of the Parties under Environmental Law and Bankruptcy Law Based on the 

Unique Facts and Circumstances of this Case.  
 

The Proposed Agreement is Procedurally and Substantively Fair 
 

43. The proposed Agreement is procedurally and substantively fair. Tutu, 326 F.3d at 

207.  The Agreement was negotiated at arm’s length over several months between experienced 

and sophisticated counsel and technical staff.  The negotiations bore many of the hallmarks of 

procedural fairness, including evaluations of the merits of various legal arguments and back-and-

forth negotiations on Agreement language. 

44. The Agreement reflects a substantively fair resolution of the competing positions 

of the parties and full and fair evaluation of litigation risks given the catastrophic explosion at 

Debtors’ refinery and Debtors’ bankruptcy.  Here, the United States receives a promise to 

comply with at least a significant percentage of Debtors’ RINs retirement obligation.  In the 

absence of this Agreement, other sources of funding necessary for compliance may never 

materialize or take years to do so. 

 

                                                       
4 The United States enters into the Agreement here under the Attorney General’s inherent authority to compromise 

cases involving the United States or its agencies. See Swift & Co. v. United States, 276 U.S. 311, 331-32 (1928); 
See, e.g., United States v. Hercules, Inc., 961 F.2d 796, 798 (8th Cir. 1992); Tosco Corp. v. Hodel, 804 F.2d 590, 
591 (10th Cir. 1986); Applegate v. United States, 52 Fed. Cl. 751, 757-58 (Fed. Cl. 2002); United States v. 
Asarco, Inc., 814 F. Supp. 951, 957 (D. Colo. 1993); Halbach v. Markham, 106 F. Supp. 475, 479-80 (D.N.J. 
1952), aff'd, 207 F.2d 503 (3d Cir. 1953). “Courts have upheld the United States entry into numerous 
environmental bankruptcy settlements under the Attorney General's inherent authority that have obtained 
important benefits for the public. . . .” In re ASARCO LLC, 9009 WL 8176641 (Bankr. S.D. Tex. June 5, 2009) 
(citing In re Cuyahoga Equip. Corp., 980 F.2d at 112–13, 119–20; In re Eagle–Picher Indus., Inc., 197 B.R. 260 
(Bankr. S.D. Ohio 1996), affd, 1997 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 15436 at *46 (July 14, 1997 S.D. Ohio); In re Energy 
Coop., Inc., 173 B.R. 363, 372 (N.D.Ill.1994).). 
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The Proposed Settlement Agreement is Reasonable 

45. The Agreement is reasonable because it provides some effective and technically 

adequate compliance with pre-effective date RFS obligations without threatening the 

consummation of the Plan. See Cannons Eng’g Corp., 899 F.2d at 89-90.  This Agreement 

obtains the maximum compliance that is possible without causing a serious risk of threatening 

Debtors’ Plan and the negative consequences of liquidation following the catastrophic explosion 

at Debtors’ refinery. 

46. The Agreement is also reasonable because it accounts for the parties’ litigation 

positions and risks. Cannons Eng’g Corp., 899 F.2d at 90. The United States believes it has a 

strong argument that RINs obligations are not dischargeable claims within the definition of the 

Bankruptcy Code and therefore must be complied with. See 11 U.S.C. § 101(5) (defining “claim” 

to include in part a “right to an equitable remedy for breach of performance if such breach gives 

rise to a right to payment. . . .”) (emphasis added)); 11 U.S.C. §§ 101(12), 1141(d)(1) (providing 

for a discharge of “debts”, which are defined to be a “liability on a claim”); In re Ben Franklin 

Hotel Associates, 186 F.3d 301, 305-306 (3d. Cir. 1999) (inquiring whether monetary damages 

are a “viable alternative” to the asserted equitable remedy (quoting Air Line Pilots Association v. 

Continental Airlines, 125 F.3d 120 (3d. Cir. 1997)); see also In re Altegrity, Inc. 526 B.R. 253, 

261 (Bankr. D. Del. 2016) (“I must determine whether a monetary award is a viable alternative 

to this type of relief” (citing In re Ben Franklin, 186 F.3d at 306)); United States v. Apex Oil Co., 

579 F. 3d 734, 738 (7th Cir. 2009) (discharge is “limited to cases in which the claim gives rise to 

a right to payment because the equitable decree cannot be executed”); In re Davis, 3 F.3d 113, 

116-17 (5th Cir. 1993) (equitable remedies that do not fall within the Code’s definition of claim 

cannot be discharged); In re Torwico Elecs., Inc., 8 F.3d 146, 151 n.6 (3d Cir. 1993) (a state 
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order requiring the closure of a seepage pit was not a claim because the debtor’s obligation was 

an obligation to ameliorate ongoing pollution; it had no option to pay for the right to allow its 

wastes to continue to seep into the environment); In re Chateaugay Corp., 944 F. 2d 997, 1008 

(2d Cir. 1991) (“any order that to any extent ends or ameliorates continued pollution is not . . . a 

‘claim’” because “EPA . . . has no authority to accept a payment from a responsible party as an 

alternative to continued pollution”); In re Mark IV Industries, Inc., 438 B.R. 460 (Bankr. 

S.D.N.Y. 2010) (setting forth test for determining whether a cleanup order is dischargeable). The 

Debtors strongly believe otherwise.  These provisions have not been previously litigated in the 

context of the RFS program and the outcome was not certain.     

The Proposed Agreement is a Fair and Reasonable Compromise of the Disputed 
Contentions of the Parties under Environmental Law and Bankruptcy Law Based on the 

Unique Facts and Circumstances of this Case 
 

47. This Agreement, like the 2018 Consent Decree, harmonizes environmental law, 

which requires full compliance with pre-effective date RFS obligations, with the Bankruptcy 

Code’s “fresh start” rehabilitative policy goals. The Bankruptcy Code is undergirded by a “fresh 

start” policy, Grogan v. Garner, 498 U.S. 279, 283 (1991), that “provides a procedure by which 

certain insolvent debtors can reorder their affairs, make peace with their creditors, and enjoy a 

new opportunity in life with a clear field for future effort . . . .” Id. at 286 (quoting Local Loan 

Co. v. Hunt, 292 U.S. 234, 244 (1934) (internal quotations omitted)). 

48. In other words, the Agreement attempts to balance and reconcile the competing 

important concerns of the Debtors’ compliance with its pre-effective date RFS obligations with 

the fresh start and rehabilitation goals of the Bankruptcy Code by maximizing compliance with 

the Debtors’ pre-effective date RFS obligations without subjecting the bankruptcy to a serious 

risk of liquidation.  
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49. Courts have often noted the profound tension between bankruptcy and 

environmental law. “The Supreme Court has indicated that, if possible, these two conflicting 

objectives should be reconciled.” In re Chicago, Milwaukee, St. Paul & Pac. R.R. Co., 3 F.3d 

200, 201 (7th Cir. 1993) (citing Midlantic Nat’l Bank v. N.J. Dep’t of Envtl. Prot., 474 U.S. 494, 

505-06 (1986)); Ohio v. Kovacs, 469 U.S. 274, 280-82 (1985)). See also In re Jensen, 995 F.2d 

925, 927 (9th Cir. 1993) (recognizing the obligation of the courts to reconcile the conflicting 

objectives of environmental law and bankruptcy law); In re Nat’l Gypsum Co., 139 B.R. 397 

(N.D. Tex. 1992) (holding that the pivotal question is not whether a given environmental statute 

or the Bankruptcy Code is “accorded primacy over the other, but rather what interaction between 

the two statutes serves most faithfully the policy objectives embodied in the two separate 

enactments”). 

50. The Third Circuit has applied the same type of analysis in harmonizing other 

non-bankruptcy statutes with the Bankruptcy Code so that the two statutes can peacefully 

coexist. See Simon v. FIA Car Servs., N.A., 732 F.3d 259, 274 (3d Cir. 2013) (harmonizing 

Bankruptcy Code with the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act by explaining “‘[W]hen two 

statutes are capable of coexistence, it is the duty of the courts, absent a clearly expressed 

congressional intention to the contrary, to regard each as effective.’” (quoting J.E.M. Ag Supply, 

Inc. v. Pioneer Hi–Bred Intern., Inc., 534 U.S. 124, 143–44 (2001)). Debtors are “not relieved of 

all obligations under a non-bankruptcy statute simply by filing a petition for bankruptcy.” In re 

Univ. Med. Ctr., 973 F.2d 1065, 1083 (3d Cir. 1992) (quoting NLRB v. Bildisco, 465 U.S. 513, 

534 (1984) (internal quotations omitted)). Rather, the goal is to harmonize the policies of the 

Code with that of the other statute, in order to “define the appropriate post-petition relationship” 
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between the parties. Id. at 1082-83 (“[i]n so doing, we must reconcile these two statutes in a 

manner that respects the fundamental concerns of each.”). 

51. Here, as in 2018, the Agreement’s balancing of the two statutory regimes leads to 

a substantively fair result. Insisting on greater compliance with the RINs retirement obligations 

would have presented a serious risk of failure of the Plan and liquidation.  Liquidation of the 

refinery facility would have potential negative consequences both under bankruptcy law and 

under other environmental laws.  Cleanup and responsible stewardship of the refinery facility by 

a reorganized debtor would have been lost which would have had threatened negative 

consequences for the environment and surrounding community.  

The Commenters Have Not Provided Any Reason 
That the Agreement Should not be Approved 

 
52. Neither of the commenters have provided any reason that the settlement should 

not be approved.  During the comment period, we received two comments opposing entry of the 

settlement – one from The Coalition for Renewable Natural Gas (CRNG), the second from the 

National Biodiesel Board, Growth Energy, and the Renewable Fuels Association (NBB et. al). 

Copies of the public comments have been filed with the Court as attachments to this Joinder.  

Each of these parties also submitted comments in opposition to the 2018 Consent Decree. [2018 

Docket No. 347], and many of the arguments that they raise mirror arguments that the United 

States addressed in its Motion to Enter for the 2018 Consent Decree (2018 Motion to Enter).  

53. The two comments list multiple reasons that the commenters oppose approval of 

the Agreement in its current form.  These reasons can be grouped into a number of categories, 

including comments (1) contending that greater compliance should have been obtained; (2) 

expressing precedential concerns, including about potential effects on the RFS program and the 

RINs market; (3) questioning the United States’ authority to enter into this Agreement; (4) 
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relating to cellulosic waiver credits and the treatment of certain RINs; (5) objecting to any 

resolution of parent and joint venture liability; and (6) contending that the United States should 

have considered requiring other forms of relief. We address each category below.   

54. The United States appreciates these comments and shares some (but not all) of the 

commenters’ concerns about the impacts of the Agreement on the RFS program.  Similarly to the 

2018 Consent Decree, this Agreement seeks to balance the competing interests of bankruptcy 

law with environmental law.  As stated in the United States’ 2018 Motion to Enter, Congress has 

not expressly spoken on how the RFS program claims should be treated under the Bankruptcy 

Code.  As explained above, the United States believes that this Agreement strikes a balance that 

harmonizes bankruptcy and environmental law.   

Commenters’ Contention that Greater Compliance Should  
Have Been Obtained is Not a Basis to Reject the Agreement 

 
55. Both commenters contend that the United States should have sought a greater 

level of compliance from Debtors. The Agreement requires Debtors to comply with the entirety 

of their RINs Retirement Obligations under both the 2018 Consent Decree and applicable law – 

but significantly, the Agreement caps Debtors’ total expenditures at $10,000,000 (or up to 

$22,000,000 if PESRM recovers funds on its Excise Tax Refund Claim). Realistically, the 

commenters argue, these caps will preclude Debtors from fully retiring the RINs that they owe.  

56. As discussed above, the Agreement is the result of arms-length negotiations, a 

consideration of the catastrophic explosion at Debtors’ refinery, Debtors’ bankruptcy situation, 

and an evaluation of litigation risks.  The Agreement results in significant, if incomplete, 

compliance with Debtors RVOs under the 2018 Consent Decree and RFS Regulations.  

57. Litigating this matter and failing to negotiate a settlement may have risked the 

Debtors’ liquidation. This approach would likely lead to increased transactional and 
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administrative costs and could leave the refinery facility without a responsible owner.  Such a 

liquidation, could paradoxically result in leaving fewer assets available for compliance with the 

RFS program and other environmental laws enforced by the EPA and its city and state 

enforcement partners.    

Commenters’ Precedential Concerns are Not a Reason to Reject the Agreement 

58. Commenters express a number of precedential concerns. CRNG contends that 

EPA’s failure to enforce the 2018 Consent Decree “illustrates to the market and other parties that 

EPA will not fully enforce its consent decrees in the event of bankruptcy.” NBB states that the 

Agreement is “is an unnecessary concession to PES that sets a dangerous precedent that will 

encourage other refiners to neglect their RFS obligations and then seek to reduce them through a 

settlement.”  They also express concern that the Agreement could incentivize companies to use 

bankruptcy filings to escape their regulatory obligations under other environmental statutes.  

59. Contrary to setting a dangerous precedent, here the United States believes that this 

Agreement appropriately harmonizes the conflicting aims of bankruptcy and environmental law.   

Moreover, as stated above, “the United States has agreed to this Settlement Agreement based on 

the unique facts and circumstances present in this Bankruptcy Case, and nothing in this 

Settlement Agreement shall be treated as having any precedential value in any other non-

bankruptcy or bankruptcy matter (outside of this Bankruptcy Case) with different facts and 

circumstances.”   There will hopefully not be many other cases which involve catastrophic 

explosions of the type experienced by these Debtors.   Moreover, by facilitating reorganization 

under the oversight of a buyer of the Debtors’ equity, compliance with regulatory obligations 

under other environmental statutes is maximized by the Agreement over what might happen in a 

chaotic liquidation. 
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The United States Has Authority to Enter Into the Agreement 

60. CRNG contends that EPA “appears to be circumventing the limitations on its 

waiver authority through this proposed agreement,” and by doing so is “circumventing the 

procedural protections provided by Congress.” As discussed in the 2018 Motion to Enter, the 

CAA provides statutory waivers, with specific procedural requirements, for certain RFS program 

requirements, but those waivers do not apply here.  42 U.S.C. § 7545(o)(7).  

61. The United States enters into this Agreement under the inherent authority of the 

Attorney General to resolve cases involving the United States or its agencies.  Here, like in 2018, 

the case involves the liabilities of a debtor in bankruptcy under the RFS program of the CAA.  

The United States has found nothing in the CAA that prohibits its ability to enter into a 

settlement that attempts to harmonize bankruptcy and environmental law. The CAA’s various 

provisions for waivers do not prohibit or restrict the inherent authority of the Attorney General to 

resolve cases involving federal agencies, and the Agreement’s harmonization of the goals of 

bankruptcy and environmental law is an appropriate and beneficial use of this inherent authority. 

CRNG Comment Concerning Use of Cellulosic Waiver Credits and Treatment of Certain 
Types of RINs.  

 
62. CRNG requests that the cellulosic biofuel volume requirement, which would 

partially satisfy the advanced biofuel and renewable fuel requirements, be prioritized and met 

first. CRNG contends that because of the Total Market RIN Price Cap and the option to buy 

cellulosic waiver credits (CWCs), rather than D3 RINs, there is not an actual obligation that PES 

meet the cellulosic biofuel volume requirement. CRNG requests removal of the alternative to 

comply with the cellulosic biofuel volume requirement through CWCs.  Relatedly, they stated 

that the Agreement includes a preference for certain types of RINs. They also request that the 

Agreement make clear that if D3 Q RINs are available above the 3,392,992 requirement that they 
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are “available for purchase” and must be purchased to meet the cellulosic biofuel, advanced 

biofuel, and renewable fuel volume obligations before the provisions allowing purchase of 

alternative RINs.  

63. The RFS program provides regulated entities with the flexibility to utilize certain 

RINs to meet their RVOs, without preferential treatment for satisfaction of one RVO over 

another; the Agreement aligns with that programmatic construct and requires that Debtors meet 

the RVOs, contained in Paragraph 4 of the Agreement, utilizing a capped amount of $10 million 

to do so, and up to an additional $12 million from any Excise Tax Refund Claim Debtors recoup.  

The RFS Regulations currently allow, per 40 C.F.R. § 80.1456, for use of either D3 RINs or 

CWCs to meet the cellulosic biofuel RVO. However, in response to CRNG’s comment, the 

United States and Debtors have agreed to insert language requiring that Debtors use “reasonable 

commercial efforts” to buy D3 Q RINs, before purchasing CWCs, to meet their cellulosic biofuel 

volume requirement of 3,392,992 valid D3 Q RINs. This language would be incorporated into 

the Agreement via its inclusion in Paragraph 6 of the Proposed Order. As CRNG noted, use of 

D3 Q RINs to meet the cellulosic biofuel RVO would also concurrently satisfy portions of the 

advanced biofuel and renewable fuel RVOs. See 40 C.F.R. § 80.1427.    

The NBB Comment about Parent Liability is Not Grounds for Rejecting the Agreement 
 

64. NBB also raised the point that under 40 C.F.R. § 80.1461(c), parent companies 

are liable under the RFS Regulations for any failure of subsidiaries or affiliates to meet their 

RVOs, and contends that PESRM’s parents could easily have met its obligations, had the 

government chosen to require them to do so.  

65. The United States also addressed this concern in the 2018 Motion to Enter. Here, 

the United States believes that it would have strong arguments in favor of parent liability under 
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the RFS program, but Debtors again disagree, raising the same arguments expressed in the 2018 

Motion to Enter, and there is little case law on the subject other than Judge Gross’ rejection of 

this argument in Debtors’ prior bankruptcy case [2018 Docket No. 376]. The United States does 

not agree with Debtors’ position but cannot be certain it would prevail in litigation. 

66. More importantly, and again, the United States does not believe it could have 

reached a settlement with Debtors that did not also provide for a resolution of the liability of 

related entities, and protracted litigation over the liability of related entities would have created a 

serious risk of liquidation and the negative consequences discussed above. Therefore, the 

Agreement’s inclusion of provisions resolving the liability of Covered Entities makes possible 

the harmonization of bankruptcy and environmental law described above. 

Commenters’ Contention that the United States Should Have Sought Other Types of Relief 
is Not Grounds for Rejecting the Agreement 

 
67. CRNG states that EPA should have required PES to install renewable fuel 

blending equipment, rather than focusing on requiring PESRM to retire RINs. NBB similarly 

cites to Debtors’ poor business decisions, including their deliberate decision not to invest in RIN-

generating fuel blending technologies. NBB also argues that for deterrence purposes, EPA must 

not only hold Debtors accountable for their compliance obligations, but also remove any 

economic benefit received by Debtors from their failure to comply and impose substantial 

additional penalties.   

68. Under the RFS Program, regulated entities have the flexibility to meet their RVOs 

through the blending of renewable fuel or buying RINs that represent renewable fuel blending 

and production. The RFS program was designed to allow obligated parties to purchase RINs or 

obtain RINs with renewable fuel that they blend or use. This allows the obligated parties to 

dictate the appropriate mechanisms to determine and implement their own strategies to comply 
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with the RFS program rather than requiring the development of renewable fuel infrastructure(s) 

where it may not be appropriate (e.g., inability to ship certain renewable fuels on pipelines after 

blending). In addition, regarding CRNG’s comment on seeking penalties, the Agreement focuses 

on requiring that Debtors maximize the total expenditure available to comply with their RVOs, 

through the purchase and retirement of RINs given their bankruptcy situation.   

CONCLUSION 
 

For all the above reasons, the United States respectfully requests that the Court approve 

EPA’s entry into the Agreement. 

 
Dated:   June 1, 2020     
     

     Respectfully Submitted 

FOR THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA: 

     /s/ John Broderick 
ALAN S. TENENBAUM 
National Bankruptcy Coordinator 
JOHN BRODERICK 

 MATTHEW INDRISANO 
Trial Attorneys 
United States Department of Justice 
Environment and Natural Resources Division 
Environmental Enforcement Section 
P.O. Box 7611 
Ben Franklin Station 
Washington, DC 20044 
alan.tenenbaum@usdoj.gov  
(202) 514-5409 
john.broderick@usdoj.gov 
(202) 305-0302 
matthew.indrisano@usdoj.gov 
(202) 514-1398 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 I HEREBY CERTIFY that on June 1, 2020, I electronically filed the foregoing UNITED 
STATES’ JOINDER IN SUPPORT OF MOTION TO APPROVE PROPOSED CONSENT 
DECREE AND ENVIRONMENTAL  SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT with the Clerk of the 
Court by using the CM/ECF system, which will send a notice of electronic filing to all CM/ECF 
participants. 
 
 

       
/s John Broderick          

      JOHN BRODERICK 
      Environmental Enforcement Section 

 Environment and Natural Resources Division 
      U.S. Department of Justice 
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May	22,	2020	

VIA	ELECTRONIC	MAIL	
	
Section	Chief	
U.S.	DOJ—ENRD—EES	
P.O.	Box	7611	
Washington,	DC	20044–7611	
E-mail:		pubcomment-ees.enrd@usdoj.gov	
	

Re:	 In	re	PES	Holdings,	LLC.,	et	al.,	Civ.	Action	No.	19-11626	(Bankr.	D.	Del.)	
DOJ	Number	90–5–2–1–10993/2	
85	Fed.	Reg.	27,443	(May	8,	2020)	

Dear	Section	Chief:	

The	Coalition	for	Renewable	Natural	Gas	(RNG	Coalition)	respectfully	submits	these	
comments	on	the	proposed	“Consent	Decree	and	Environmental	Settlement	Agreement”	
lodged	in	the	above-referenced	proceeding	(referred	to	herein	as	the	“proposed	
PES	Consent	Decree”).	The	RNG	Coalition	is	a	non-profit	association	of	companies	and	
organizations	dedicated	to	the	advancement	of	Renewable	Natural	Gas	(RNG)	as	a	clean,	
green,	alternative	and	domestic	energy	and	fuel	resource.	RNG	qualifies	as	cellulosic	
biofuel,	which	is	an	advanced	biofuel,	under	the	Renewable	Fuel	Standard	(RFS)	program,	
and	members	of	the	RNG	Coalition	produce	RNG	for	transportation	fuel	use	under	the	RFS.	
Indeed,	RNG	comprises	the	vast	majority	of	the	cellulosic	biofuel	program	under	the	RFS.	
As	such,	we,	and	our	members,	have	a	significant	interest	in	implementation	of	the	RFS	
program	and,	thereby,	in	the	proposed	PES	Consent	Decree.	The	RNG	Coalition	submitted	
comments	on	the	consent	decree	EPA	entered	into	with	the	Debtors1	after	a	bankruptcy	
filing	in	2018	(referred	to	herein	as	the	“2018	Consent	Decree”)	that	is	purportedly	being	
enforced	under	this	proposed	settlement	agreement.	The	RNG	Coalition	again	urges	the	
United	States	to	enforce	the	RFS	program	and	objects	to	the	proposed	PES	Consent	Decree	
to	the	extent	it	does	not	actually	require	Debtors	to	meet	their	RFS	obligations.	

	
1	For	ease	of	reference,	these	comments	generally	use	the	term	“Debtors”	to	refer	to	those	entities	in	the	
bankruptcy	proceeding	that	are	subject	to	the	RFS	requirements.	
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I.	 The	Proposed	PES	Consent	Decree	

According	to	the	proposed	PES	Consent	Decree	(§I,	¶E),	Debtors	have	failed	to	retire	
approximately	154	million	RINs	to	satisfy	the	RFS	volume	obligation	for	the	period	of	
January	1,	2019	through	June	30,	2019,	which	was	due	September	30,	2019,	pursuant	to	
the	2018	Consent	Decree.	It	also	states	that,	between	July	1,	2019	and	December	31,	2019,	
the	Debtors	produced	less	than	1.6	million	barrels	(67.2	million	gallons)	of	gasoline	and	
diesel	fuel,	that	there	was	no	additional	processing/refining	of	crude	oil	to	produce	
gasoline	or	diesel	fuel	after	December	31,	2019,	and	there	will	be	no	additional	
processing/refining	of	crude	oil	to	produce	gasoline	or	diesel	fuel	before	the	Plan	Effective	
Date	and	closing	of	the	sale.	See	Proposed	PES	Consent	Decree,	§II	at	9.	The	proposed	PES	
Consent	Decree	is	intended	“to	resolve	any	and	all	alleged	liabilities	related	to	the	Debtors	
under	both	the	2018	Consent	Decree	…	and	Section	211(o)	of	the	Clean	Air	Act,	42	U.S.C.	
§7545(o)(‘CAA’),	the	Renewable	Fuel	Standard	(‘RFS’)	Program,	and	the	regulations	
prescribed	at	40	C.F.R.	Part	80,	Subpart	M	(the	‘RFS	Regulations’).”	Id.	at	1.	

Under	the	proposed	PES	Consent	Decree	(§V,	¶4),	a	total	of	161,830,963	valid	RINs	must	be	
retired	within	90	calendar	days	of	the	Settlement	Agreement	Effective	Date	or	the	Plan	
Effective	Date,	in	the	following	amounts:	

• 3,392,992	valid	Q-RINs,	or	cellulosic	biofuel	waiver	credits	pursuant	to	40	C.F.R.	
§80.1456,	to	comply	with	the	Cellulosic	Biofuel	renewable	volume	obligation	(RVO);	

• 25,521,200	valid	Q-RINs	to	comply	with	the	Biomass-Based	Diesel	RVO;		
• 39,978,296	valid	Q-RINs	to	comply	with	the	Advanced	Biofuel	RVO;	and	
• 161,830,963	valid	Q	RINs	to	comply	with	the	Renewable	Fuel	RVO.	

Q-RINS	are	RINs	that	have	been	verified	under	a	Quality	Assurance	Plan	(QAP),	and	they	
must	be	either	of	the	year	in	which	the	RIN	is	retired	or	the	immediately	preceding	year.	
If	sufficient	quantities	of	Q-RINs	to	meet	these	obligations	are	not	available	for	purchase	in	
the	marketplace,	then	the	Parties	shall	meet	and	confer	to	discuss	the	alternative	RINs	that	
will	be	purchased	to	meet	those	requirements.	See	Proposed	PES	Consent	Decree,	§V,	¶5.	
Importantly,	however,	these	obligations	are	subject	to	a	Total	Market	RIN	Price	cap	of	
$10,000,000,	plus	any	recovery	received	on	the	Excise	Tax	Refund	Claim	from	the	United	
States	up	to	a	total	cap	of	$22,000,000.	Id.	§V,	¶6.	This	reduces	the	amount	previously	
contemplated	for	the	amount	required	in	the	“RINs	Retirement	Obligations	Reserve”	from	
$35	million	to	$10	million.	Cf.	Order	Confirming	the	Fourth	Amended	Joint	Chapter	11	Plan	
of	PES	Holdings,	LLC	and	its	Debtor	Affiliates	[Doc.	1004]	at	53.	

Renewable	Natural	Gas	(RNG)	is	derived	from	biogas	treated	to	meet	pipeline	
specifications	and	be	transportation	fuel	grade.	RNG,	typically	compressed	natural	gas	or	
liquified	natural	gas,	can	qualify	(a)	as	“cellulosic	biofuel”	to	generate	D3	RINs,	which	can	
be	used	to	meet	the	cellulosic	biofuel,	advanced	biofuel	and	renewable	fuel	requirements,	
or	(b)	as	a	non-cellulosic	“advanced	biofuel”	to	generate	D5	RINs,	which	can	be	used	to	
meet	the	advanced	biofuel	and	renewable	fuel	requirements.	The	vast	majority	of	RNG	
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produced	today	qualifies	as	cellulosic	biofuel,	and	RNG	makes	up	over	95%	of	the	cellulosic	
biofuel	category.	The	majority	of	RNG	D3	RINs	are	Q-RINs.	

II.	 The	Proposed	Agreement	Must	Require	the	Debtors’	RIN	Obligations	be	Met.	

EPA	is	required	to	“ensure”	transportation	fuel	sold	in	the	United	States	includes	the	
applicable	volume	of	renewable	fuel,	advanced	biofuel,	cellulosic	biofuel,	and	biomass-
based	diesel.	42	U.S.C.	§7545(o)(2)(A)(i);	see	also	id.	§7545(o)(3)(B)(i).	The	statute	lists	
those	applicable	volumes	through	2022	for	total	renewable	fuel,	total	advanced	biofuel,	and	
cellulosic	biofuel.2	Id.	§7545(o)(2)(B).	Since	2007,	EPA’s	regulations	have	imposed	RVOs	on	
refiners	and	importers	of	gasoline	and	diesel	fuel	to	meet	these	requirements,	which	are	to	
increase	each	year.	Importantly,	Congress	provided	EPA	with	limited	authority	to	reduce	
the	required	applicable	volumes.	Id.	§7545(o)(7).	Here,	the	proposed	PES	Consent	Decree	
purports	to	be	requiring	the	Debtors	to	meet	the	outstanding	volume	obligation	for	2019,	
but	the	actual	RINs	required	likely	would	be	far	less	due	to	the	Total	Market	RIN	Price	caps.	
As	such,	there	is	no	real	enforcement	of	the	2018	Consent	Decree,	and	the	2019	volume	
requirement	will	not	be	“ensure[d].”	

EPA	reports	RIN	price	data	on	a	weekly	basis.	For	the	month	of	March	2020,	RIN	prices	for	
2019	and	2020	Q-RINs	ranged	from	as	low	as	$0.19	for	D6	(renewable	fuel)	Q-RINs	to	
$1.63	for	D3	(cellulosic	biofuel)	Q-RINs.3	Based	on	the	Total	Market	RIN	Price	cap,	EPA	is	
again,	as	it	did	in	the	2018	Consent	Decree,	essentially	waiving	the	volumes	required	from	
Debtors	and,	thereby,	improperly	waiving	the	volume	requirement	for	2019	without	
complying	with	statutory	requirements.	These	requirements	include	specific	substantive	
criteria	and	procedural	requirements.	None	of	which	have	been,	or	can	be,	met	here.	EPA	
has	made	clear	that	the	waivers	provided	in	the	statute	are	“only	available	to	address	
widespread	concerns.”	80	Fed.	Reg.	77,420,	77,483-77,484	(Dec.	14,	2015);	see	also	73	Fed.	
Reg.	47,168,	47,168	(Aug	13,	2008)	(finding	waiver	may	apply	only	if	EPA	“determines	that	
implementation	of	the	requirement	would	severely	harm	the	economy	or	environment	of	a	
State,	region	or	the	United	States”)	(citing	42	U.S.C.	§7545(o)(7)(A));	77	Fed.	Reg.	70,752,	
70,753	(Nov.	27,	2012);	82	Fed.	Reg.	58,486,	58,517-58,518	(Dec.	12,	2017).	EPA,	thus,	
appears	to	be	circumventing	the	limitations	on	its	waiver	authority	through	this	proposed	
agreement.	For	EPA	to	meet	its	statutory	obligations,	i.e.,	to	ensure	the	applicable	volumes	
are	met,	EPA	must	actually	ensure	the	remaining	obligations	are	met	by	the	Debtors	(or	
their	affiliates)	or	explain	how	these	lost	volumes	will	be	made	up.	This	could	include,	for	
example,	adding	these	lost	volumes	to	the	required	volumes	for	2021	or	2022.4			

It	also	is	not	in	the	public	interest	for	EPA	to	circumvent	the	procedural	protections	
provided	by	Congress.	The	statute	requires	specific	procedures	for	EPA	to	use	its	waiver	

	
2	Since	2013,	EPA	sets	the	applicable	volume	for	biomass-based	diesel	based	on	a	list	of	statutory	factors.	
3	https://www.epa.gov/fuels-registration-reporting-and-compliance-help/rin-trades-and-price-information.	
4	This	also	has	the	potential	to	impact	the	actual	volumes	required	in	later	years	by	allowing	prior-year	RINs	
to	be	available	to	show	compliance,	lowering	actual	volumes	used	in	a	given	year	and	affecting	the	market.	
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authority.	None	of	those	procedures	has	been	met,	and	the	RNG	Coalition	is	extremely	
concerned	with	EPA’s	failure	to	follow	those	procedures.	This	includes	requiring	a	petition	
or	EPA	motion	for	a	waiver,	consulting	with	the	U.S.	Department	of	Agriculture	and	the	
U.S.	Department	of	Energy	and	providing	for	public	notice	and	comment.5	Even	if	this	
somehow	was	not	considered	a	waiver,	EPA	is	changing	the	compliance	requirements	in	its	
regulations	via	consent	decree,	which	requires	a	rulemaking	to	change.		

While	the	RNG	Coalition	acknowledges	that	the	bankruptcy	court	approved	the	2018	
Consent	Decree,	which	similarly	waived	the	Debtors’	volume	obligations,	here	EPA	is	
purporting	to	enforce	that	Consent	Decree,	which	was	already	a	significant	concession	to	
the	Debtors	and	illustrates	to	the	market	and	other	parties	that	EPA	will	not	fully	enforce	
its	consent	decrees	in	the	event	of	bankruptcy.	This	has	substantial	negative	implications	
for	enforcement	of	the	RFS	and	of	environmental	regulations	more	generally.		

Although	the	proposed	PES	Consent	Decree	notes	that	it	is	not	intended	to	serve	as	
precedent,	others	may	believe	EPA	has	opened	the	door	to	circumvent	the	RFS	
requirements	by	the	Administration’s	apparent	willingness	to	forego	statutory	
requirements.	In	failing	to	enforce	the	2018	Consent	Decree,	EPA	shows	not	just	that	it	is	
willing	to	reward	recalcitrance,	but	also	that	it	won’t	enforce	its	own	settlement	
agreements.	Other	parties	may	follow.	As	such,	EPA	must	give	the	public	assurances	that	it	
will	not	allow	such	gamesmanship	in	the	future.	

III.	 The	Cellulosic	Biofuel	Volume	Obligation	Must	be	Met.	

Due	to	the	Total	Market	RIN	Price	caps	and	the	alternative	to	purchase	cellulosic	waiver	
credits	rather	than	D3	RINs,	there	is	no	actual	obligation	that	Debtors	comply	with	the	
cellulosic	biofuel	volume	requirement.	This	is	counter	to	the	purposes	of	the	RFS	to	move	
this	country	toward	advanced	biofuels,	and,	in	particular,	to	promote	increasing	production	
of	cellulosic	biofuels.	

It	is	important	to	recognize	that	the	proposed	PES	Consent	Decree	does	not	relate	to	a	mere	
monetary	obligation	and,	thus,	has	significant	implications	for	the	biofuels	industry	and	the	
public.	While	EPA’s	regulations	provide	obligated	parties	flexibility	in	meeting	the	RFS	
requirements,	the	mandate	in	the	RFS	was	intended	to	provide	incentives	for	refiners	to	
take	action	to	increasingly	incorporate	renewable	fuel	in	the	transportation	fuel	market.	
Focusing	on	the	purchase	of	Renewable	Identification	Numbers	or	RINs—the	compliance	
mechanism	for	showing	the	obligations	under	the	statute	are	being	met—ignores	the	
actions	taken	by	others	to	reduce	their	costs	and	comply.	It	also	ignores	the	steps	biofuel	
producers	have	taken	in	reliance	on	the	actual	volumes	established	by	EPA.	Where	the	
deadlines	for	compliance	have	already	passed,	it	is	unclear	how	it	is	in	the	public	interest	

	
5	While	there	is	a	15-day	comment	period	on	the	proposed	PES	Consent	Decree,	EPA	provides	no	explanation	
or	support	for	the	Total	Market	RIN	Price	cap	in	the	agreement,	nor	does	EPA	provide	any	justification	for	
waiving	the	requirements.	This	comment	period	cannot	meet	the	procedural	requirements	in	the	statute.	
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for	EPA	to	allow	a	party	to	intentionally	and	willfully	refuse	to	meet	a	long-standing	
regulatory	requirement	through	an	unexplained	price	cap.	

Importantly,	under	the	RFS,	biofuels	are	intended	to	displace	volumes	of	fossil	fuels,	
providing	numerous	environmental	benefits,	particularly	reducing	air	emissions.	RNG,	
which	is	produced	from	organic	waste,	provides	significant	volumes	into	the	medium-and	
heavy-duty	vehicle	market,	reducing	air	emissions	associated	with	petroleum-based	diesel	
fuel	and	geologic	natural	gas	and	ameliorates	environmental	impacts	from	wastes	in,	for	
example,	landfills	and	wastewater	treatment	plants.	It	is	not	in	the	public	interest	for	EPA	
to	waive	the	volume	requirements	and,	thereby,	eliminate	their	attendant	environmental	
benefits.	These	lost	environmental	benefits	are	not	even	mentioned	in	EPA’s	proposed	PES	
Consent	Decree	or	in	the	Federal	Register	notice,	although	the	title	of	the	agreement	refers	
to	an	“Environmental	Settlement	Agreement.”	

While	we	do	not	support	any	cap	on	the	total	costs	that	may	be	expended,	the	plan	required	
$35	million	be	held	in	escrow	for	RIN	retirement	obligations.	The	deposit,	however,	was	
not	to	“constitute	a	limit	on	the	RINs	required	to	be	retired.”	Order	Confirming	the	Fourth	
Amended	Joint	Chapter	11	Plan	of	PES	Holdings,	LLC	and	its	Debtor	Affiliates	[Doc.	1004]	at	
53.	There	is	no	explanation	for	a	$10	million	cap	on	total	RIN	costs	(or	$22	million	if	
Debtors	are	refunded	tax	credit	monies).	This	cap	appears	arbitrary	and	completely	out	of	
sync	with	the	volume	requirements	at	issue.		

Based	on	current	RIN	prices,	as	noted	above,	it	is	likely	that	the	price	cap	will	limit	the	
number	of	RINs	actually	required	to	be	purchased.6	It	also	may	lead	the	Debtors	to	
purchase	the	least	expensive	Q-RINs,	which	are	currently	D6	Q-RINs	that	represent	
“conventional”	biofuel	up	to	the	cap,	rather	than	an	advanced	biofuel	RIN.	In	other	words,	
there	are	no	actual	assurances	that	the	RIN	obligations	will	be	met,	and	the	purported	
requirement	to	retire	almost	3.4	million	Q-RINs	for	cellulosic	biofuels	is	essentially	
meaningless.	This	is	not	a	trivial	amount	for	RNG	producers.	RNG	projects	are	typically	
small	in	size	when	considering	ethanol-equivalent	gallons	equivalency	compared	to	other	
biofuel	plants.	A	loss	of	3.4	million	RINs	could,	in	fact,	have	significant	implications	for	
existing	investments	and	planned	projects.	Moreover,	D3	RINs	can	be	used	to	meet	the	
larger	volumes	in	the	advanced	biofuel	and	renewable	fuel	categories,	but	the	proposed	
PES	Consent	Decree	provides	no	real	incentive	for	Debtors	to	purchase	or	retire	D3	RINs.		

There	also	is	no	explanation	for	allowing	cellulosic	biofuel	waiver	credits	(CWCs)	to	be	
used	to	meet	the	cellulosic	biofuel	requirement.	A	CWC	is	issued	by	EPA	and	does	not	
represent	actual	biofuel	produced.	EPA	has	authority	to	limit	the	use	of	CWCs	“to	assist	
market	liquidity	and	transparency,	to	provide	appropriate	certainty	for	regulated	entities	

	
6	EPA	has	consistently	found	that	refiners	pass-through	RIN	costs	when	selling	the	refined	products.	It	is	
unclear	if	the	Debtors	owned	any	RINs	at	the	time	of	the	bankruptcy	filing	or	currently	own	RINs.	These	RINs	
should	not	count	against	the	cap	and,	if	still	in	their	possession	(or	their	affiliates’	possession),	should	be	
retired.	If	RINs	were	sold	by	Debtors	prior	to	the	entry	of	the	consent	decree,	this	should	result	in	an	increase	
in	any	cap.	
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and	renewable	fuel	producers,	and	to	limit	any	potential	misuse	of	cellulosic	biofuel	credits	
to	reduce	the	use	of	other	renewable	fuels,	and	for	such	other	purposes	as	the	
Administrator	determines	will	help	achieve	the	goals	of	this	subsection.”	42	U.S.C.	
§7545(o)(7)(D)(iii).	It	furthers	the	goals	of	the	RFS	to	require	RINs	that	represent	actual	
production	be	used	to	meet	these	obligations.	Allowing	for	CWCs	as	an	alternative	to	
meeting	the	cellulosic	biofuel	volume	requirement	also	makes	no	sense	where	the	prices	
for	2019	and	2020	CWCs,7	for	example,	are	higher	than	current	D3	RIN	prices	and	where	
CWCs	cannot	be	used	to	meet	the	advanced	biofuel	or	cellulosic	biofuel	categories.	Such	
purchases	will	only	allow	the	Debtors	to	get	to	the	cap	faster	without	buying	RINs	that	
actually	represent	fuel	production	and	would	only	compensate	EPA.	

We	also	note	that	EPA	is	requiring	Q-RINs	only,	rather	than	RINs	that	have	not	been	
verified	under	a	QAP.	It	is	unclear	why	that	is	the	case,	but	most	D3	RINs	should	be	Q-RINs.	
The	proposed	PES	Consent	Decree	also	provides	that,	if	there	are	insufficient	Q-RINs	
available,	the	parties	may	allow	alternative	RINs	to	be	used.	D3	RINs	can	also	be	used	to	
meet	the	overall	advanced	biofuel	and	renewable	fuel	categories	even	beyond	the	specific	
cellulosic	biofuel	requirement.	As	such,	so	long	as	D3	Q-RINs	are	in	the	market,	they	are	
“available	for	purchase”	to	meet	the	cellulosic	biofuel,	advanced	biofuel	and	the	renewable	
fuel	volume	obligations.8	

To	better	ensure	the	goals	of	the	statute,	the	RNG	Coalition	urges	EPA	to	make	
modifications	to	the	proposed	PES	Consent	Decree	prior	to	finalizing.	These	modifications	
include:	

• Identify	and	require	retirement	of	any	RINs	that	were	in	the	Debtors	possession	
prior	to	or	during	the	bankruptcy	filing	and	through	today	without	regard	to	any	
price	cap;	

• Remove	the	alternative	to	meet	the	cellulosic	biofuel	volume	requirement	with	
CWCs;	

• Require	the	cellulosic	biofuel	volume	requirement,	which	also	would	partially	meet	
the	advanced	biofuel	and	renewable	fuel	requirements,	be	prioritized	and	fulfilled	
first;		

• Make	clear	that	if	D3	Q-RINs	are	available	above	the	3,392,992	required	that	they	
are	“available	for	purchase”	and	must	be	purchased	before	the	provision	requiring	
alternative	RINs	in	paragraph	5	is	triggered;	and	

• Remove	or	increase	the	cap	to	ensure	the	majority	of	the	volume	requirements	are	
actually	met.	

	
7	EPA	sets	the	CWC	price	annually.	40	C.F.R.	§80.1456(a)(1).	
8	For	example,	EPA	reports	that	there	are	around	55	million	D3	2019	RINs	still	available	
(https://www.epa.gov/fuels-registration-reporting-and-compliance-help/available-rins),	which,	at	a	
minimum,	should	be	used	before	Debtors	assert	compliance	with	their	outstanding	RIN	obligations.	There	are	
more	than	ample	RINs	available	to	meet	the	Debtors’	RVOs.	
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*	 *	 *	

For	the	reasons	noted	above,	the	RNG	Coalition	believes	DOJ	must	reconsider	the	proposed	
PES	Consent	Decree.	Given	the	substantial	benefits	of	RNG,	the	cellulosic	biofuel	
requirement	must	be	ensured.	

If	you	have	any	questions	on	these	comments,	please	do	not	hesitate	to	contact	us.	

Sincerely,	

	

Sandra	Franco	
Director	of	Federal	Regulatory	Affairs	
The	Coalition	for	Renewable	Natural	Gas	
(916)	588-3033	
sandra@rngcoalition.com	
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May 22, 2020 
 
Jeffrey Sands 
Assistant Section Chief  
U.S. DOJ Environment and Natural Resources Division 
P.O. Box 7611, Washington, DC 20044-7611 
pubcomment-ees.enrd@usdoj.gov  
 
Re: Comments of the National Biodiesel Board, Growth Energy, and the Renewable Fuels Association 
on the Consent Decree and Environmental Settlement Agreement In re: PES Holdings, LLC  
 
Dear Mr. Sands, 
 
The National Biodiesel Board (“NBB”), Growth Energy, and the Renewable Fuels Association (“RFA”) 
appreciate the opportunity to provide comment to the Department of Justice on the Consent Decree 
and Environmental Settlement Agreement in In re PES Holdings LLC, No. 19-11626 (Bankr. D. Del.) 
(“Settlement Agreement”).  
 
We urge the Department of Justice and EPA to reconsider their Settlement Agreement that allows PES 
Holdings LLC and the other debtors (collectively, “PES”) to escape the vast majority of their obligations 
under the Renewable Fuel Standard (“RFS”) as determined by the Consent Decree and Environmental 
Settlement Agreement (“2018 Consent Decree”).  
 
PES failed to meet its renewable identification numbers (“RINs”) Retirement Obligation of approximately 
154 million RINs to satisfy its RVOs for the period of January 1, 2019 through June 30, 2019 pursuant to 
the 2018 Consent Decree. Despite the explosion and pending bankruptcy, PES continued to produce 
gasoline and diesel fuel from crude oil, triggering additional RINs Retirement Obligations under the 2018 
Consent Decree and the CAA and the RFS Regulations. Unfortunately, the Settlement Agreement erases 
PES’s responsibility for RIN compliance and places the burden onto the biofuels producers to bear the 
impacts of PES’s inability to meet its RFS obligations.   
 
As NBB, Growth Energy, and RFA stated in our comments in response to the 2018 Consent Decree, the 
Government does not need to enter (or now reduce the RIN obligations in) a settlement that rewards 
the deliberate decision of PES and its parent companies to ignore the requirements of the RFS.  
 
PES’s bankruptcy was the result of decisions that placed it in a poor position to deal with changes in the 
U.S. oil market. To the extent PES cannot meet the 2018 Consent Decree, it is because it deliberately 
chose not to invest in blending equipment and then ensured through dividends and other expenditures 
that it lacked the funds to purchase RFS credits.   
 
Renewable Volume Obligations (“RVOs”) are not dischargeable in bankruptcy. As the Settlement 
Agreement acknowledges, PES’ obligation to retire RINs does not meet the definition of a “claim” in 
bankruptcy. Instead, RVOs are the type of non-monetary environmental compliance obligations that can 
continue to be enforced despite bankruptcy proceedings. RVOs can be satisfied only through 
performance, as the 2018 Consent Decree acknowledges, yet the Government continues to discount the 
settlement allowing PES to escape the majority of their RIN obligation. Refiners such as PES can meet 
their RFS obligations by: (1) blending or otherwise using biofuels or (2) purchasing RINs from another 
company that has blended or used biofuels. See 40 C.F.R. § 80.1400 et seq.  
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Moreover, parent companies are liable under the RFS for any failure of their subsidiaries or affiliates to 
meet their RVOs. 40 CFR 80.1461(c). PES is a joint venture owned by the Carlyle Group, LLC (“Carlyle”) 
and Sunoco, Inc. (“Sunoco”), both of which are large, solvent corporations. Those companies easily 
could have met PES’s obligations, but the Government chose not to require them to do so. 
 
The Government therefore does not need to further discount a settlement agreement that already let 
PES and its parent companies out of their RIN obligations for pennies on the dollar. We ask that EPA 
continue to require PES to comply in full with the 2018 Consent Decree and not factor in events outside 
of RFS compliance that led to their bankruptcy. PES’ RVO liabilities should not be discounted any more 
than they already have been in the 2018 Consent Decree, which already relieved PES of more than 70 
percent of its RFS compliance obligations for 2016-2017.  
 
The lesson that PES and others will learn from this bankruptcy is that they can fail to comply with the 
RFS and then settle millions of dollars of RIN obligations. To discourage such behavior in the future, EPA 
must hold PES to its RIN obligations and impose penalties that would remove any economic benefit to 
PES from its failure to comply and impose substantial additional penalties to create a sufficient 
deterrent. 
 
The Settlement Agreement is an unnecessary concession to PES that sets a dangerous precedent that 
will encourage other refiners to neglect their RFS obligations and then seek to reduce them through a 
settlement. If the Government finalizes the Settlement Agreement in its current form, it will severely 
injure the members of NBB, Growth Energy, and RFA, along with other renewable fuel producers. It 
would also hurt farmers across the country and everyone who is employed in the renewable fuel supply 
chain.  
 
The precedent that the Settlement Agreement sets will have an even more detrimental impact than the 
original 2018 Consent Decree. If PES is allowed to receive such a sizeable discount, even though it 
disregarded its obligations and sold RINs prior to bankruptcy, other refiners will look to do the same. 
Refiners that are in financial distress for any reason can attempt to blame it on the RFS and significantly 
reduce their RFS compliance costs through a settlement with the Government in a bankruptcy 
proceeding. Refiners could even follow PES’s model to create financial distress through poor 
management or excessive dividends if they can hope to receive the same treatment that PES does in the 
Settlement Agreement.  And the impact of the Settlement Agreement would not necessarily be limited 
to the RFS—it could incentivize companies to use bankruptcy filings to escape their regulatory 
obligations under the Clean Air Act, the Clean Water Act, the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, 
and other environmental statutes.    
 
The Settlement Agreement would significantly harm all producers of biofuels and the harm would not 
stop there. A reduction in the RIN market and corresponding reductions in renewable fuel production 
would harm the farmers who produce soybeans, corn, animal products, and other feedstocks, as well as 
all of the employees in the renewable fuel production supply chain.  
 
NBB, Growth Energy, and RFA request that the Department of Justice withdraw the Settlement 
Agreement that reduces the RIN Retirement Obligations from $35 million to $10 million as it is 
inappropriate, improper, and inadequate. 
 
Sincerely, 

2

Case 19-11626-LSS    Doc 1294-2    Filed 06/01/20    Page 2 of 3



 

 
 

Kurt Kovarik 
Vice President, Federal Affairs 
National Biodiesel Board 

Emily Skor 
Chief Executive Officer 
Growth Energy 

Geoff Cooper 
President & CEO 
Renewable Fuels Association 
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